RECEIVED

MAY 25 2018

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARK LORENZO BLAKE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001364

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err admitting the second chemist's report, testimony and drug evidence when the State failed to establish an adequate chain of custody for the substance tested?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to suppress evidence obtained as a result of an unreasonable search of Appellant's home?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 2013, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Blake for possession with intent to distribute heroin, indictment #2013-GS-10-2729. On June 14, 2016, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill. Jason King and Tamara Vanpala represented Appellant at trial. Stephanie Linder and Lauren Frierson prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Hill sentenced Appellant to twelve (12) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on June 24, 2016. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred admitting the second chemist's report, testimony and drug evidence when the State failed to establish an adequate chain of custody for the substance tested.

The jury found Appellant guilty of possession with intent to distribute heroin. A substance was found in Appellant's home during the execution of a search warrant. The substance was first tested on March 11, 2013, by Elizabeth Mitchell, a chemist with the Charleston City Police Department. (R. p. 251, line 22 – p. 252, lines 1-2). Mitchell's report indicates that the substance was 2.46 of heroin. (R. p. 257, lines 20-22). The substance was then transported to the Charleston County Sheriff's Office on April 1, 2013, by Ashley Carr Earl. (R. p. 252, lines 3-5). Neither the chemist nor Ashley Carr Earl testified at trial.

The substance remained at the Charleston County Sheriff's Office until June 1, 2015, when it was again transferred to the Charleston City Police Department. (R. p. 252, lines 6 – 20). On June 8, 2015 the substance was returned to the Charleston County Sheriff's Office and received by either Christopher Hockrighter, according to the Charleston City Police Department lab chain of custody, or Jason Riley, according to the Charleston County Sheriff's Office chain of custody. (R. p. 252, lines 9 – 25; R. p. 258, line 9 – p. 292, lines 1-2). Hockrighter did not testify at trial. The substance remained at the Charleston County Sheriff's Office until November 23, 2015, when the substance was transferred to the Charleston City Police Department lab for a third time. (R. p. 253, lines 1-16). The substance was tested a second time by Renee Hilton, another chemist with the Charleston City Police Department. Hilton reported the substance as 1.12 grams of heroin. (R. p. 257, lines 22-23).

Appellant objected to the admission of Hilton's report based on the State's failure to establish an adequate chain of custody. (R. p. 241, lines 12-15). After hearing arguments from both sides, (R. pp. 261-266), the judge found that the chain had been adequately established, "assuming the foundation is further laid that Ms. Frierson just assured me it would concerning the heat sealing and the basis of Ms. Hilton's knowledge of the initials of the chemist Ms. Mitchell who is unavailable, who first tested the drugs ..." (R. p. 266, lines 18-25). The judge later elaborated on his ruling citing State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 708 S.E.2d 750 (2011); and State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 598 S.E.2d 735 (S.C. Ct.App. 2004) in addition to State v. Williams, 297 S.C. 290, 376 S.E.2d 773 (1989). (R. p. 286, lines 1-21). Appellant renewed the objection prior to the testimony of the chemist. (R. p. 268, lines 1-12). Appellant renewed the objection when the drugs were admitted in evidence. (R. p. 279, lines 16-18). Appellant again renewed the objection at the close of the case and after the jury returned a verdict. (R. p. 286, line 25 - p. 287, lines 1-12; p. 352, lines 11-14). The trial judge abused his discretion in admitting the testimony, report and drugs tested by the second chemist when the State failed to establish an adequate chain of custody.

As correctly argued by counsel for Appellant, the missing link in the chain in the present case is the first chemist, Elizabeth Mitchell, and not simply a custodian who received and/or stored a sealed package. (R. p. 242, lines 5-25). In State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 708 S.E.2d 750 (2011), the missing link was simply a witness from the South Carolina Law Enforcement division [SLED] Log-In Department who received a double sealed package from an officer with the Marlboro County Sheriff's Office. The SLED chemist testified that when she retrieved the evidence from the Log-In Department, the evidence was still sealed in a best evidence kit. The

Court in Hatcher found that the judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting drug evidence writing:

Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. United States v. De Larosa, 450 F.2d 1057, 1068 (3d Cir.1971). "The trial judge's exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: '... the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.'" Id. (citation omitted). "If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence." Gallego v. United States, 276 F.2d 914, 917 (9th Cir.1960).

Considering those factors here, we find no abuse of discretion in the trial judge's admission of the drug evidence in Hatcher's case. We agree with the Court of Appeals that the mere fact that evidence is sealed upon presentation for testing does not, in itself, establish a sufficient chain of custody. **Evidence is still required as to how the item was obtained and how it was handled to ensure that it is, in fact, what it is purported to be.** However, we have consistently held that the chain of custody need be established only as far as practicable, and we reiterate that every person handling the evidence need not be identified in all cases.

Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 94-95, 708 S.E.2d at 754-55 (bold added). The first chemist in the present case is a critical part of the chain, unlike the missing witness in Hatcher. Evidence is lacking in the present case as to how the first chemist obtained and handled the substance.

In State v. Williams, 297 S.C. 290, 376 S.E.2d 773 (1989), the Court found that the chain of custody for a blood sample was sufficient although the nurse who drew the blood did not testify at trial. The Court wrote, "Nurse Yorke testified she removed the blood sample from a locked refrigerator on the morning after the accident and took it to the lab for testing. The vial was labeled with appellant's name, his patient number, his date of birth, and the date the blood was drawn. The hospital's internal chain of custody form was initialled by Nurse Burns indicating she had obtained the sample from appellant and then locked it in the refrigerator."

Williams, 297 S.C. at 293, 376 S.E.2d at 774. Importantly, Williams challenged the chain of

custody **not** based on a missing chemist, but rather on the fact that the nurse who drew the blood sealed the vial and labeled it did not testify. The challenge in the present case is based on the fact that the first chemist who handled and tested the substance did not testify.

In State v. Taylor, 360 S.C. 18, 598 S.E.2d 735 (S.C. Ct.App. 2004), this Court found that the chain of custody for drug evidence was sufficient although an evidence custodian did not testify a trial. This Court found that the State introduced evidence to establish the identity of each person in the chain of possession and the manner of handling. Like the missing link in Hatcher, the missing link in Taylor was simply the evidence custodian who delivered the sealed evidence bag to SLED. Again, the missing link in the present case is the first chemist who tested the substance and the State did not introduce sufficient evidence to establish the manner of handling of the substance by the first chemist.

Additionally, the State failed to establish that the first chemist was unavailable as defined by the Rule 804, SCRE. The State simply argued that, "Ms. Mitchell is no longer with the lab. She chose another career, there's no unsavory circumstances or anything. She's just in another career and is unavailable to testify." (R. p. 245, lines 12-16). The State failed to show that they tried to procure Ms. Mitchell's testimony. This Court in Taylor wrote:

A party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a chain of custody as far as practicable. See, e.g., Benton v. Pellum, 232 S.C. 26, 33, 100 S.E.2d 534, 537 (1957); State v. Cribb, 310 S.C. 518, 522, 426 S.E.2d 306, 309 (1992); State v. Joseph, 328 S.C. 352, 364, 491 S.E.2d 275, 281 (Ct.App.1997); State v. Johnson, 318 S.C. 194, 196, 456 S.E.2d 442, 443 (Ct.App.1995). Where the analyzed substance has passed through several hands, the evidence must not leave it to conjecture as to who had it and what was done with it between the taking and the analysis. While the proof of chain of custody need not negate all possibility of tampering, it must establish a complete chain of evidence as far as practicable. State v. Williams, 297 S.C. 290, 293, 376 S.E.2d 773, 774 (1989); Johnson, 318 S.C. at 196, 456 S.E.2d at 443.

360 S.C. at 22–23, 598 S.E.2d at 737. The analyzed substance in the present case passed through many hands before finally being tested by the second chemist. The evidence leaves to conjecture what was done with the substance when it was in the hands of the first chemist. The State did not establish that the first chemist was unavailable. The State failed to establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable.

In State v. Joseph, 328 S.C. 352, 491 S.E.2d 275 (S.C.Ct.App. 1997), this Court found the chain of custody for drug evidence was inadequate where the State offered an affidavit instead of the testimony of the chemist who tested the substances because the chemist had moved to Michigan. In reversing the conviction, this Court wrote:

In the case at bar, we conclude that the State failed to establish an adequate chain of custody. Kilmer was the critical link in the State's chain of custody—it was Kilmer who retrieved the evidence from the drop box and first analyzed the evidence, and it was Kilmer who retained possession of evidence for six months. The fact that Kilmer had moved to Michigan does not render Kilmer unavailable or make it impracticable for the State to produce her for trial once Joseph objected to the use of her affidavit. Given Kilmer's importance in the chain of custody and the inconsistencies in the State's proof of the chain of custody, Joseph's right to cross-examine Kilmer cannot be abridged simply because she no longer lived in South Carolina. We therefore conclude that the State's evidence of the chain of custody was fatally deficient and that the trial court erred by admitting the drug evidence.

Joseph, 328 S.C. at 364–65, 491 S.E.2d at 281–82 (footnotes omitted).

In present case the State had the substance re-tested by a second chemist. The re-testing, however, did not cure the problem with the chain. The second chemist's recognition of the first chemist's initials on a sealed bag does not provide evidence of handling by the first chemist. As noted by the Court in Hatcher, "... the mere fact that evidence is sealed upon presentation for testing does not, in itself, establish a sufficient chain of custody." Hatcher, 392 S.C. at 94–95, 708 S.E.2d at 754–55. The first chemist was a critical link in the chain and not just a custodian.

The trial judge abused his discretion in admitting the report, testimony and drugs tested by the second chemist when the State failed to establish an adequate chain of custody.

2. The trial judge erred in refusing to suppress evidence obtained as a result of an unreasonable search of Appellant's home.

Prior to trial Appellant moved to suppress evidence found inside his home during the execution of a search warrant. (R. p. 13, lines 3-25). Appellant did not challenge the validity of the search warrant. Instead, Appellant argued that the search was conducted unreasonably. The State called three officers from the Charleston County Sheriff's Office to testify as to how the search warrant was executed. (R. pp. 14-61). Appellant also testified at the suppression hearing. (R. pp. 69-82). Counsel for Appellant argued that the excessive force used during the felony traffic stop in connection with the officers' actions during the search of Appellant's home, including their failure to provide Appellant with a copy of the search warrant, rendered the execution of the search warrant unreasonable. (R. pp. 83- 86; p. 91, line 11 – p. 92, lines 1-8, line 24 – p. 93, line 1). Appellant moved to suppress all evidence obtained as a result to the search warrant based on both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. (R. p. 85, line 22 – p. 86, lines 1-4).

The judge denied the motion to suppress. (R. pp. 93-98). The judge found that the officers were justified in the manner in which they conducted the felony stop and later search of Appellant's home. (R. p. 95, line 18 – p. 96, lines 1-7). With regard to the failure to provide Appellant with a copy of the search warrant the judge stated, "I don't find that the failure to give a warrant – a copy of the warrant to Mr. Blake, put it in his hands when he was handcuffed

behind his back as I understand it is enough in and of itself to deem the search unreasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.” (R. p. 96, lines 8-13).

During trial Appellant objected, based on the pre-trial suppression motion, to photos taken at the home on the day of the search (R. p. 121, line 14; p. 169, lines 4-6; p. 182, lines 9-11), and evidence seized at the home including the substance which the chemist testified was heroin. (R. p. 189, line 25 – p. 190, line 1; p. 191, line 1; p. 193, line 19; p. 196, lines 6-8; p. 279, lines 16-18). The judge overruled the objection each time. At the close of the case Appellant renewed the motion to suppress and the judge again denied the motions. (R. p. 286, line 22- p. 287, lines 1-12). Appellant renewed the motion to suppress after the jury returned the verdict. (R. p. 352, lines 11-18). The trial judge erred in refusing to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of an unreasonable search.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects a person's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. “The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because ‘[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.’ ” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840 (quoting State v. Easley, 327 S.C. 121, 131 n. 13, 489 S.E.2d 617, 625 n. 13 (1997)). “Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights.” Id. “This relationship is often described as a recognition that the federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution establishes the ceiling.” Id. “Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection against unreasonable searches and

seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.” Id. at 644, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

As persuasive authority to support the argument that the officer’s failure to provide Appellant with a copy of the search warrant rendered the search unreasonable, Appellant cited United States v. Thompson, 667 F. Supp. 2d 758, 763 (S.D. Ohio 2009). (R. p. 83, line 4 – p. 84, lines 1-8). In Thompson one of the factors the judge relied upon in finding that the search, pursuant to a warrant, was unreasonable, was the fact that officers refused to provide the defendant’s wife with a copy of the search warrant. In Thompson the district judge wrote:

The reasonableness of a search and seizure is evaluated based upon the totality of the circumstances. Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39, 117 S.Ct. 417, 136 L.Ed.2d 347 (1996). “To satisfy the Reasonableness Clause, officers not only must obtain a valid warrant but they also must conduct the search in a reasonable manner.” Baranski, 452 F.3d at 445. The willingness (or unwillingness) of officers to present a warrant to an occupant when asked goes to the reasonableness of a search. See id. at 443 (stating that “the decision of officers not to present an incorporated affidavit to the occupant upon request may be a relevant factor in determining the reasonableness of a search”). After all, an integral component of the Fourth Amendment’s protection of the home is the requirement that a warrant must be obtained prior to a search. Karo, 468 U.S. at 715, 104 S.Ct. 3296.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-150 provides that, “When any person is served with a search warrant, such person shall be furnished with a copy of the warrant along with the affidavit upon which such warrant was issued.”

In Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 124 S. Ct. 1284, 157 L. Ed. 2d 1068 (2004), the United States Supreme Court left open the question of whether it would be unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment for an officer executing a search warrant to refuse to provide an occupant, present at the scene, with a copy of the search warrant. The Court wrote in footnote #5, “Whether it would be unreasonable to refuse a request to furnish the warrant at the outset of the search when, as in this case, an occupant of the premises is present and poses no threat to the

officers' safe and effective performance of their mission, is a question that this case does not present." In Groh v. Ramirez, 540 U.S. 551, 562, 124 S. Ct. 1284, 1292, 157 L. Ed. 2d 1068 (2004).

In the present case Appellant was arrested pursuant to a felony traffic stop and taken back to his home where officers executed the search warrant. Appellant testified that he became agitated after he asked to see a copy of the search warrant and the officers refused. (R. p. 71, lines 3-16). Detective Frank Waddell admitted that he never personally gave Appellant a copy of the search warrant. (R. p. 41, lines 11-16; p. 42, lines 4-11). The detective admitted that the search warrant itself ordered the detective to serve Appellant with a copy of the search warrant. (R. p. 40, line 10 – p. 41, lines 1-14). Rather than providing Appellant with a copy of the search warrant, pursuant to S.C. Code §17-13-150 and the search warrant itself, the detective simply left the search warrant at the residence. (R. p. 36, lines 7-13). The detective admitted that Appellant would not have had an opportunity to see the search warrant because he was arrested and taken to jail at the conclusion of the search. (R. p. 41, lines 20-25).

As noted by the judge in Thompson:

One of the purposes served by the warrant requirement is informing citizens that the executing agents are acting under proper authorization when they invade the sanctity of a citizen's home. That sentiment is succinctly but eloquently stated by the Supreme Court in Camara v. Mun. Ct., 387 U.S. 523, 530-33, 87 S.Ct. 1727, 18 L.Ed.2d 930 (1967):

In our opinion, these arguments unduly discount the purposes behind the warrant machinery contemplated by the Fourth Amendment. Under the present system, when the inspector demands entry, the occupant has no way of knowing whether enforcement of the municipal code involved requires inspection of his premises, no way of knowing the lawful limits of the inspector's power to search, and no way of knowing whether the inspector himself is acting under proper authorization. That purpose cannot be served if executing officers arbitrarily decide to withhold presentation of the warrant until the conclusion of the search despite an occupant's repeated requests to view the warrant.

See also United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1, 9, 97 S.Ct. 2476, 53 L.Ed.2d 538 (1977) (noting that "... a warrant assures the individual whose property is searched or seized of the lawful authority of the executing officer, his need to search, and the limits of his power to search."), *abrogated on other grounds*, California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565, 111 S.Ct. 1982, 114 L.Ed.2d 619 (1991).

Thompson, 667 F. Supp. 2d at 764-65. As noted in footnote #3 in Thompson:

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