RECEIVED

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

MAY 25 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001364

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARK LORENZO BLAKE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

tampering so long as the chain of possession is complete. *Id.* at 92, 708 S.E.2d at 753. “In applying this rule, we have found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession *because the identity of those who handled the [substance] was not established at least as far as practicable.*” *Id.* “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” *Id.* at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755. “Where there is evidence to establish the identity of those who have handled the evidence and the manner in which it was handled, a weakness in the chain merely raises a question of credibility, not admissibility.” *State v. Taylor*, 360 S.C. 18, 24, 598 S.E.2d 735, 737 (Ct. App. 2004). The *Taylor* Court pointed out that our Supreme Court noted this distinction between credibility and admissibility in *State v. Carter*, 344 S.C. 419, 424, 544 S.E.2d 835, 837–38 (2001), when it stated: “[w]e have found evidence inadmissible only where there is a missing link in the chain of possession because the identity of those who handled the [evidence] was not established at least as far as practicable . . . . On the other hand, where the identity of persons handling the specimen is established, we have found evidence regarding its care goes only to the weight of the specimen as credible evidence.” *Id.* at 25, 598 S.E.2d at 738. This Court held, “We believe it is clear from these decisions that if the identity of each person in the chain handling the evidence is established, and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion is shown in the admission, *absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, the identity of each person in the chain was established, the manner of handling was reasonably demonstrated, and there was no proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive. The State called witnesses in the chain of custody to explain their roles, beginning with Sergeant Roberson who was part of the search team and actually found the drugs and related items in the kitchen of Appellant’s residence. Dep. Miller then testified he received the evidence from the

members of the search team and put it in a bag. Jason Riley then testified that Dep. Miller submitted the drug evidence to him for transport to the City of Charleston Police Department drug lab on March 11, 2013. (R. 218, lines 2-7; R. 223, lines 13-17). Riley then testified the evidence came back to Mark Watson, another staff member in his office, on April 1, 2013. (R. 223, lines 22-24). He testified it stayed in the evidence room until June 1, 2015, when it was signed out to the lab; then it came back from the lab on June 8, 2015, and was signed out again on November 23, 2015, and came back December 7, 2015. (R. 223, line 25-R. 224, line 17). He explained he does not transport evidence if any of the seals are broken and would not have accepted the items into evidence if they appeared to be tampered with. (R. 220, line 24-R. 221, line 2, lines 23-25). Next, Susan Payne of the City of Charleston Police Department testified about picking up the evidence and transporting it for analysis. Payne testified she received it from Riley on March 1, 2013, and placed it in the safe.<sup>2</sup> It went to Elizabeth Mitchell next and then went back to the sheriff's office before it was returned to Payne on November 23, 2015. It then was transported to Renee Hilton on June 1, 2015, where it stayed until June 8, 2015. Payne admitted Mitchell had cut the bag open. She testified that on June 1, 2015, and November 23, 2015, the evidence was in substantially the same condition as when she first saw it. (R. 228, line 14-R. 229, line 5; R. 232, lines 8-11). She testified her procedure is to always check the package before transporting to make sure it is sealed correctly and check for initials on the seal. (R. 227, lines 1-14). She would not have accepted it if it appeared to have been tampered with. (R. 228, lines 1-7). Hilton then testified she tested the substance after it had been tested two years prior by Mitchell. She testified she knew Mitchell had previously examined the evidence

---

<sup>2</sup> The record shows Riley testified the date he transported the evidence to the City of Charleston Police Department was March 11, 2013, while Payne testified she received it from Riley on March 1, 2013. However, no dispute regarding this date has arisen, and it is likely simply a typographical error on the part of the court reporter.

but was no longer employed because she left for another career. She explained that because Mitchell was unavailable to testify, the drugs were retested. (R. 237, line 20–R. 239, line 18; R. 271, lines 1–21). Hilton testified that Mitchell would have been required to heat seal them after testing and put an initial over the heat seal. (R. 272, lines 1–8).

At trial, Appellant argued this case was similar to *State v. Joseph*, 328 S.C. 352, 491 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 1997), where this Court found the trial court erred in admitting drug evidence because of defects in the chain of custody. However, *Joseph* is based on Rule 6(a)(2)(C), SCRCrimP, which allows a party to object to the introduction of a chemist's report and if such an objection is made, the trial judge shall require the chemist to testify at trial. This Court noted that Rule 6 provided an alternative means of establishing a chain of custody in circumstances where reports and affidavits were admitted in lieu of live testimony. However, that is not what happened here. The State did not attempt to admit any report from the first chemist, Elizabeth Mitchell. Indeed, the State had the drugs retested by Hilton because Mitchell was not available to testify. So Rule 6 does not apply and neither does *Joseph*.

Despite Appellant's contention otherwise, evidence exists in the record as to how Mitchell obtained and handled the substance. Even though Mitchell did not testify, her identity and the manner in which she handled the evidence were established. Susan Payne testified she placed the evidence in the safe and that it then went to Elizabeth Mitchell, the first chemist. She received the substance after Mitchell had cut open the bag but testified that her policy is to make sure everything she transports is packaged and sealed correctly and has the person's initials on the seal. She also testified the substance was in substantially the same condition when she received it from Mitchell. Hilton testified Mitchell's initials were over the heat seal. All of this constitutes evidence as to how Mitchell obtained it (from Payne) and how she handled it (cut it

open and then resealed it and initialed on the seal). The record also provides evidence that when Mitchell had the substance, she tested it.

It is interesting that Appellant cites *Hatcher* for the proposition that “the mere fact that evidence is sealed upon presentation for testing does not, in itself, establish a sufficient chain of custody.” *Hatcher*, 392 S.C. at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755. The Supreme Court stated this in the context of agreeing with this Court on that statement. However, if one looks at this Court’s opinion, which the Supreme Court reversed, this Court stated, “[E]vidence the drugs had not been tampered with is not sufficient to overcome missing links in the chain of custody.” *State v. Hatcher*, 384 S.C. 372, 378, 681 S.E.2d 925, 928 (Cl. App. 2009) *reversed*, *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 708 S.E.2d 750 (2011). Whether one considers the actual bag being sealed upon presentation for testing or more generally whether there is any evidence of tampering, the Supreme Court properly contemplated this as simply one factor in its determination that the trial judge had not abused his discretion in admitting the drug evidence. However, the Court made clear it also looked at the requirement that evidence of how the item was obtained and handled was present for the purpose of ensuring it was what it was purported to be. Finally, the Court reiterated its consistent holding that the chain of custody need be established only as far as practicable and that every person handling the evidence need not be identified in all cases. *Hatcher*, 392 S.C. at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755. In *Hatcher*, in determining the chain of custody was insufficient, this Court noted: (1) a party who received the evidence at SLED was not identified, (2) no testimony of how the evidence was handled while in one officer’s possession was presented, (3) one officer did not testify regarding how the evidence came to be in her custody, (4) the date the evidence was left at SLED was not revealed, and (5) no evidence was presented as to where the evidence was stored pending the analysis. Nevertheless, our Supreme Court found the chain of custody was established as far as practicable. The Court considered the

testimony of members of the chain of custody regarding “their handling of the drugs and the fact that there was no evidence of tampering” and properly focused on the record’s indication that “the drugs received for testing were in fact, those taken from Hatcher without any alteration, tampering, or substitution.” *Id.*

As in *Hatcher*, here there is much more than simply evidence that the bag was sealed or not tampered with. Indeed, the chain of custody established here did not have as many deficiencies as the one in *Hatcher* that the Supreme Court still found sufficient. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the drug evidence based on a sufficient chain of custody, and this Court should affirm.

II.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the search of his residence.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying his motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the search of his residence, claiming the search violated the Fourth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution because it was conducted unreasonably. Specifically, he argues the officers used excessive force during the felony traffic stop and that combined with the officers' actions during the search and their failure to hand Appellant a copy of the search warrant rendered the execution of the search warrant unreasonable. Thus, he argues the evidence obtained during the search should have been suppressed. On the contrary, the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress, finding the search was not conducted unreasonably. This Court should affirm.

"The reasonableness of a search and seizure is evaluated based upon the totality of the circumstances." *United States v. Thompson*, 667 F. Supp. 2d 758, 763 (S.D. Ohio 2009). In order to satisfy the reasonableness factor, officers must both obtain a valid warrant *and* conduct the search in a reasonable manner. *Id.* "The willingness (or unwillingness) of officers to present a warrant to an occupant when asked goes to the reasonableness of a search." *Id.* The United States District Court acknowledged in *Thompson* that the Fourth Amendment does not require the executing officer to present a copy of the search warrant before conducting the search. *Id.* *Thompson* answered the question left open by the United States Supreme Court in *Groh v. Ramirez*—"whether it would be unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment for an executing officer to refuse to produce a warrant at the outset of a search *upon the request* of an occupant." *Id.* Specifically, the *Groh* Court stated: "Whether it would be unreasonable to refuse a request to furnish the warrant at the outset of the search when, as in this case, an occupant of the premises

is present and poses no threat to the officers' safe and effective performance of their mission, is a question that this case does not present." *Id.* (quoting *Groh v. Ramirez*, 540 U.S. 551, 562 n.5 (2004)).

Here, Appellant did pose a threat to officer safety as attested to by the officers' testimony. Det. Waddell testified Appellant was agitated, speaking loudly and repeatedly in an aggressive manner. (R. 27, line 1–R. 28, line 3). He even had to put his hands on him when Appellant continued to stand up after being ordered to sit back down; he placed his left hand on Appellant's right shoulder and pushed him back into the seat. (R. 38, line 14–R. 39, line 3). Det. Waddell further stated that after being taken into custody, Appellant was not cooperative; rather, he indicated they kept Appellant in the presence of law enforcement personnel instead of leaving him unattended because it was a safety issue. (R. 35, lines 9–20). Sergeant Mark Bryant testified that Appellant had "a bit of an attitude," was talking back and raising his voice, and was not calm while the search was in progress. (R. 49, lines 11–21). Even Appellant himself testified he got agitated and got an attitude with the officers. (R. 71, lines 10–13). He described getting into a verbal dispute with Det. Waddell and admitted he stood up and Det. Waddell pushed him back down into the chair. (R. 71, line 23–R. 72, line 10). This testimony shows that Appellant did pose a "threat to the officers' safe and effective performance of their mission" and, thus, distinguishes this case from the question left open in *Groh* and answered in part by *Thompson*.

In *Thompson*, which Appellant presented to the trial judge to support his argument that the failure to hand Appellant a copy of the search warrant rendered the search unreasonable, one of the factors the Court considered was the officers' refusal to provide Mrs. Thompson with a copy of the search warrant. However, the Court focused on the fact that she asked for a copy. Here, the only evidence indicating Appellant asked for a copy is his own self-serving testimony.

Det. Waddell testified that Appellant did not ask to see the search warrant but merely made vague inquiries about what was going on. (R. 36, lines 19–24). Det. Miller testified that Appellant kept asking why he was being arrested but did not remember him asking for a copy of the arrest warrant or search warrant. (R. 58, lines 2–10; R. 60, lines 20–22). The other factors in *Thompson* that made the search unreasonable included the fact that she was naked when officers arrived, they only allowed her to put on a shirt, they made her wait outside in the heat for five hours, she remained naked from the waist down in view of fourteen officers, and she went without food and water.

As the trial judge pointed out, the case at hand is quite different from *Thompson*. He found the officers presented credible testimony giving justifiable reasons for the way the arrest was conducted, that there was no question the arrest was valid, no question the search warrant was valid, and no issue about probable cause. Due to Appellant's prior convictions for violent offenses involving weapons, the trial judge found there was a risk to officer safety that made the entire arrest and search sequence reasonable. He specifically found the failure to put a copy of the search warrant in Appellant's hand when he was handcuffed behind his back was not enough, in and of itself, to deem the search unseasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Because Appellant became agitated, hostile, uncooperative, and non-compliant, he put the officers' safety at risk. The trial judge noted that "[i]f they had to constantly protect themselves and [the] integrity of the search against [Appellant]'s outburst and statements then that may be a reason why they were not able to give him a copy of the warrant." (R. 97, lines 5–9). He found the search was conducted reasonably within the Fourth Amendment and denied the motion to suppress. (R. 93–98). To the extent Appellant argues a State constitutional violation, this issue is not preserved for appeal. Although Appellant argued at trial that the search violated both the United States and the South Carolina Constitutions, the trial judge did not rule on whether a

violation of the State constitution occurred. Thus, this issue is not preserved for this Court's review. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 140, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”). This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.